# RECEIVED

09-27-2010

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2010AP001837 CR Circuit Court Case No. 2009CT105

## STATE OF WISCONSIN, Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GEORGE C. GREENWOOD, Defendant-Appellant.

## APPEAL FROM THE CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING SUPPRESSION OF EVIDENCE ENTERED IN IOWA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, HON. WILLIAM D. DYKE PRESIDING

#### **BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT**

GERALD C. OPGENORTH State Bar No. 1009747 5805 Hewitt Lane Spring Green, WI 53588 Telephone: 608-935-0532

#

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- I. WHETHER REASONABLE SUSPICION EXISTED TO STOP A MOTORCYCLE WITH A HOBBYIST PLATE WHERE THE LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER'S REASON FOR CONDUCTING THE STOP WAS THAT HE DID NOT SEE A WHITE REGISTRATION PLATE.
- II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT FINDINGS WERE CLEARLY ERRONEOUS BECAUSE THEY WERE UNSUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT THE SUPPRESSION HEARING.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The Defendant-Appellant, George Greenwood, does not request oral argument in that the briefs of the parties can adequately address the issue presented.

Publication is not requested.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant was cited for not having an operating registration lamp. R.11 p.14, A-Ap. p.115. The defendant was charged with one count of Operating A Motor Vehicle While Intoxicated-2<sup>nd</sup> Offense contrary to §346.63(1)(a), Wis. Stats. and one count Operating A Motor Vehicle With Prohibited Alcohol Concentration-2<sup>nd</sup> Offense contrary to §346.63(1)(b) Wis. Stats. in Iowa County Circuit Court. R.1.

The defendant filed a motion to suppress based on an illegal stop made without reasonable suspicion. R.3. A hearing was held on the motion. R.11. A-Ap. p.102. The court denied defendant's motion to suppress in a written decision. R.7, A-Ap. p.139. A reconsideration hearing was held, yet the court held to its ruling that the evidence of intoxication should not be suppressed. R.12, A-Ap-142. The defendant plead no contest to Count 1 and Count 2 was dismissed. R.1, A-Ap. p.101.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On Saturday, June 27<sup>th</sup>, 2009, at approximately 12:25 a.m., Officer Jeremy Kass was traveling westbound on Highway 14 in the Village of Arena. He observed a motorcycle pass him eastbound. The officer made a u-turn and conducted a stop of the vehicle. R.11 p.4 A-Ap. p.105. Upon approaching the motorcycle on foot, Kass noticed it had a hobbyist license plate. R.11 p.8, A-Ap. p. 109. Kass testified he did not see a registration plate as the vehicle passed him eastbound. R.11 pp.10-12, A-Ap. pp.111-113. Kass then testified he did not see the registration because there was no "telltale plate white registration plate on it." The type of plate on the motorcycle confused him. R.11 pp.12-13, A-Ap. pp.113-114.

Kass then administered field sobriety tests to the driver and asked the driver to provide a Preliminary Breath Test. The driver complied and was subsequently arrested for Operating A Motor Vehicle While Intoxicated-2<sup>nd</sup> Offense and one count Operating A Motor Vehicle With Prohibited Alcohol Concentration- 2<sup>nd</sup> Offense. R.1.

At the hearing on the motion to suppress on December 1, 2009, the state introduced a video of the stop. R.11 p. 6, A-Ap. p.107, R.13. Kass testified he shined his flashlight on the motorcycle after the stop because it had an unusual registration plate. R.11 p.8., A-Ap. p.109.

It was unclear from the video whether the registration light was functioning. R.11 p.9, A-Ap. p.110.

The defendant testified he checked his lights before he got on the motorcycle and that all lights were working. R.11 pp. 15-16, 22, A-Ap. pp.116-117,123. He also testified that the bulb which illuminates the taillight, illuminates the registration lamp. R.11 pp.18, A-Ap. p.119. Thus, if the taillight was on, it automatically illuminates the license plate. R.11 pp.19-20, A-Ap. pp. 120-121.

On redirect examination the officer testified he did not see a registration plate on the vehicle which caused him to believe there was no registration lamp working and that it was only after he stopped the vehicle did he see the physical registration plate. R.11 p.28-29, A-Ap. pp.129-130. The officer then testified he observed the taillight functioning on the motorcycle. R.11 pp.31-32, A-Ap. pp.132-133.

The court concluded the issue was whether the taillight assembly reflected enough white light for the license plate to be seen at night. R.11 pp. 32-33, A-Ap. pp.133-134. No demonstration of such took place. The circuit court also recognized there was no dispute the taillight, (the red light,) was operating. R.11 p.34, p.135. The court also found that A-Ap. the motorcycle's original equipment included a single bulb illuminating the rear taillight as well the registration illumination. R.11 p.34, A-Ap. p.135. The court then allowed the parties to brief the issue of whether a mistaken traffic violation stop can provide the basis of reasonable suspicion to stop the motorcycle. R.11 pp.34-35, A-Ap. pp.135-136.

The court rendered its written decision on January 8, 2010. R.7, A-Ap. p.139. The court again focused its analysis on whether the light bulb was adequate to illuminate both taillight and the registration plate. It further held that there was reasonable suspicion to believe a violation was being committed because the license plate was unreadable. R.7 p.2, A-Ap. p.140. Although the court recognized the motorcycle was in "factory-equipped" condition, it also found "the motorcycle had a lighting unit which was not adequate to the task, and in light of the unreadable registration plate, there was reasonable suspicion." R.7 p.2, A-Ap. 140.

Later, in the reconsideration hearing the trial court stated:

"[t]here is no doubt in my mind that if the red light was visible the white light is casting its light upward." R.12 p.11, A-Ap. p. 152. Then further on the trial court states: "[i]f the red light is on, the white light is on." R.12 p.12, A-Ap. p.153. However, the court concluded: "[p]art of the problem is the configuration and the inadequacy, and I tried to address that. This man is getting stuck with the fact that the manufacturer had a light that was too feeble." R.12 p.15, A-Ap. p.156.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and art. I, Sec. 11, of the Wisconsin Constitution prohibit the unreasonable seizure of a person without a warrant supported by probable cause. State v. Longcore, 226 Wis.2d 1, 6, 594 N.W.2d 412, citing State v. Gaulrapp, 207 Wis.2d 600, 605, 558 N.W. 696, 698 (Ct. App. 1996). Detaining a motorist for a routine traffic stop constitutes a "seizure" and, if the seizure was illegal, then evidence obtained as a result is inadmissible. Longcore, 226 Wis.2d 1, 6, 594 N.W.2d 412 (Ct. App. 1999). A seizure, especially in a traffic stop context, is a serious intrusion on an individual's liberty and must be objectively reasonable by Fourth Amendment standards. State v. Olson, 2001 WI App. 284, ¶. 15, 249 Wis.2d 391, 639 N.W.2d 207.

When reviewing an order on a motion to suppress, the court of appeals will uphold the circuit court's factual findings unless clearly erroneous. *State v. Drew*, 2007 WI App 213 ¶11, 305 Wis. 2d 641, 740 N.W.2d 404, *review denied*, 2008 WI 6, 306 Wis. 2d 48, 744 N.W.2d 297. The application of those facts to constitutional principles, however, is a question of law the court of appeals reviews independently. *Id.* 

#### ARGUMENT

An investigatory stop is permissible if the law enforcement officer reasonably suspects, in light of the totality of circumstances, that an individual is committing, is about to commit, or has committed a crime or non-criminal traffic violation. *State v. Popke*, 3009 WI 37 ¶¶13-14, 23, 765 N.W.2d 569. Reasonable suspicion is a common sense test: under all the facts and circumstances present, what would a reasonable police officer suspect in light of his or her training and experience. *State v. Young*, 212 Wis. 2d 417, 424, 569 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1997.)

## a. The Stop Was Illegal Because It Was Based On The Officer's Mistake Of Law About The Color Of Valid Registration Plates.

Arguments that excuse an officer's reasonable but misguided conduct are inapplicable to suppression motions based on the state constitution. *Longcore*, 226 Wis. 2d 1, 594 N.W.2d 412.

As in *Longcore*, the issue here is whether an officer has probable cause to arrest when his interpretation of the law is incorrect. *Longcore*, 226 Wis. 2d at 8. Furthermore, when an officer relates facts to a specific offense, it must indeed *be* an offense; a lawful stop cannot be predicated upon a mistake of law. *Id.* 

In the instant case, Officer Kass stopped the motorcycle because he did not see the "telltale" white of a registration plate and concluded that the vehicle did not have a registration plate. R.11 p.12, 28 A-Ap.p113, 129. He did, however, see the red taillight was functioning. R.11 p.30, A-Ap.131. Upon approaching the motorcycle, he shined his flashlight onto the back of the motorcycle and saw it did indeed have a license plate, albeit one he was not familiar with; a hobbyist plate. R.11 pp.10-11, A-Ap. 111-112. At this point, the motorcycle and its lights were switched off. R.11 p.10, A-Ap. 111. It was the hobbyist plate that confused the officer. R.11 p.8, A-Ap. p.109. The officer was mistaken about the law, believing instead that all vehicles must display a "telltale" white registration plate. Thus, the stop was premised on a mistake of law and the evidence must be suppressed.

## b. The Trial Court Made Findings Which Were Unsupported By The Evidence Produced At The Suppression Hearing.

Trial court findings of fact will be affirmed unless they are clearly erroneous. Wis. Stat. §805.17(2). Likewise findings of fact will not be reversed unless against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence. *Noll v. Dimiceli's, Inc.*, 115 Wis. 2d 641, 643, 340 N.W.2d 575 (Ct. App. 1983).

It is undisputed that the taillight was functioning properly, thus the registration light must have been functioning properly as well. R.12 pp.12, 14, A-Ap. pp.153, 155. No testimony was taken as to the measuring of the lamp illumination from a distance of 50 feet. Still, the trial court concluded it must have been inadequate to illuminate the registration plate. There simply is no evidence supporting this contention.

The relevant statute states that no person shall operate on a highway during hours of darkness any motor vehicle upon the rear of which a registration plate is required to be displayed unless such motor vehicle is equipped with a lamp so constructed and placed as to illuminate with a white light the rear registration plate and render it clearly legible from a distance of 50 feet to the rear. Such lamp may be incorporated as part of a tail lamp or may be a separate lamp. Wis. Stat. §347.13(3)

The trial court has now deemed all Kawasaki motorcycles with the same taillight apparatus as inadequate to illuminate the registration plate. The trial court, without evidence, has ruled that all Kawasaki motorcycles with the same taillight assembly are violating the law. This is an erroneous finding of fact which must be reversed by the court of appeals.

#### CONCLUSION

The officer was mistaken about the requirements of registration plates and stopped a vehicle based on the assumption that all vehicles would display a white registration plate and if there was a valid plate, it had to be white.

Furthermore, the trial court's findings must be clearly erroneous because the trial court did not base its findings on the evidence presented at the suppression hearing. The trial court created its own version of the issue by concluding that the light was present but that the light was inadequate. Therefore, the trial court's decision was erroneous in that no evidence was taken in support thereof.

WHEREFORE, Defendant-Appellant George C. Greenwood respectfully requests the court of appeals reverse the order of the circuit court denying the motion to suppress and vacate the conviction.