**RECEIVED**

STATE OF WISCONSIN  
COURT OF APPEALS  
DISTRICT IV

**10-11-2010**

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS  
OF WISCONSIN**

---

Appeal Case No. 2010AP001837 CR  
Circuit Court Case No. 2009CT000105

---

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GEORGE C. GREENWOOD,

Defendant-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE CONVICTION AND ORDER  
DENYING SUPPRESSION OF EVIDENCE  
ENTERED IN IOWA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT,  
THE HONORABLE WILLIAM D. DYKE, PRESIDING

---

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

---

Larry E. Nelson  
Iowa County District Attorney  
Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent

Iowa County Courthouse  
222 North Iowa Street  
Dodgeville, WI 53533  
Telephone: (608) 935-0393

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

An evidentiary hearing was held on December 1, 2009. R.11 Ap. pp.101-137. Defendant-Appellant (hereinafter referred to as Defendant) sought suppression of all evidence obtained after the stop of his motorcycle by Officer Jeremy Kass on June 27, 2009. Kass stopped Defendant for having a loud exhaust and a registration lamp violation, contrary to § 347.13(3), Wis. Stats. R.11 pp.4,7, Ap. pp.104, 107. Defendant testified that his registration lamp was in fact working. R. 11 p.16, Ap. p.116. Defendant also provided a mechanics work order dated October 26, 2009 which purports to indicate that Defendant's registration lamp was working at the time of the stop. R.11 p.16, Ap. p.116. A videotape of the stop was inconclusive as to whether the registration lamp was in fact operating. R.11 p.9, Ap. p.109.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing an order on a motion to suppress, the Court of Appeals will uphold the Circuit Court's factual finding unless clearly erroneous. *State v. Drew*, 305 Wis.2<sup>nd</sup> 641, 740 N.W. 2d 404, review denied, 306 Wis.2<sup>nd</sup> 48 (Ct. App. 2007).

## ARGUMENT

### I. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT WERE NOT CLEARLY ERRONEOUS

The Circuit Court specific finding of fact in its written decision was stated as follows:

... the officer could see an operating taillight but could not see the registration. One tiny bulb was asked to provide both the red taillight and the white illumination of the plates, and it apparently was unequal to the task. Thus, the failure to provide illumination at 50 feet gave rise to reasonable suspicion. R.7 p.2, Ap. p \_.

Thus, the Defendant did violate § 347.13(2), which in turn justified the stop of Defendant's vehicle.

The Circuit Court's finding of fact was clearly supported in the record. The officer testified he confirmed the inadequate illumination of the registration lamp three times. First, after it passed by his location. R.11 p.29, Ap. p.129. Second, while following the vehicle for a distance of a mile and a half. R.11 p.13, Ap. p.113. Finally, a third time, after the officer had the vehicle stopped. R.11 p.29, Ap. p.129. In each instance the officer could not see

a white registration lamp. R.11 pps. 29, 30, Ap.  
pp.129, 130.



**II. AN OFFICER'S MISTAKE OF FACT CANNOT SERVE AS A BASIS FOR SUPPRESSION OF EVIDENCE.**

The law is well settled in this regard. Once the State establishes that the police acted lawfully in stopping a vehicle, suppression is not warranted. Critical to the Court's analysis in this particular circumstance is the distinction between an officer's mistake of law as opposed to an officer's mistake of fact.

The State does not believe the officer was mistaken in either law or fact. However for purposes of argument and analysis, the State will assume the officer was mistaken in some respect.

Certainly the officer did not make a mistake of law. An officer may stop a vehicle for a registration lamp violation because it is contrary to § 342.13(3), Wis. Stats., in that all motor vehicles must have a functional registration lamp that illuminates a registration plate. Hypothetically, if there were no such statute regulating motor vehicles and this officer stopped this Defendant under the mistaken belief that such a statute existed, that would be a mistake of law. Since the officer under this hypothetical would have no lawful authority to stop this

vehicle, all derivative evidence as a result of this unlawful stop would be properly suppressed because the law does not excuse an officer's mistake of law.

The law however does excuse an officer's mistake of fact. The Fourth Amendment does not require that the decisions of law enforcement officers always be correct; in some cases a search and/or seizure can be reasonable under the Fourth Amendment even if mistakes were made by the officers involved. In order to satisfy the reasonableness requirement of the Fourth Amendment, what is generally demanded of the many factual determinations that must regularly be made by agents of the government is not that they always be correct, but that they always be reasonable. State v. St. Germaine, 2007 WI App 214, ¶ 17, 305 Wis.2d 511, 519, 740 N.W.2d 148; State v. Johnson, 75 Wis.2d 344, 349 n.1, 249 N.W.2d 593 (1977); Illinois v. Rodriguez, 497 U.S. 177, 183-184, 110 S.Ct. 2793, 2799-2800 (1990); United States v. Rosario, 962 F.2d 733, 738 (7<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1992).

"The 'exclusionary rule' is that, where constitutional guaranties have been invaded, derivative evidence cannot be introduced against an accused at trial. It is a sanction to deter future unlawful police conduct. Its purpose is to prevent, not to repair. However, the rule does not mean that whenever the constable errs the criminal goes free.

The law does not require that policemen in the performance of their official duties make no errors whatsoever. Such an expectation would be unrealistic." State v. Gums, 69 Wis.2d 513, 515-516, 230 N.W.2d 813 (1975). (*Emphasis added*)

In Illinois v. Rodriguez, 110 S.Ct. 2793, 2799 (1990), the Supreme Court emphasized that reasonableness under the Fourth Amendment does not demand that law enforcement officers be factually correct in their assessment of a situation. The judgment of the police officers at the time of the challenged conduct must be responsible, but it need not be correct. Rodriguez, 110 S.Ct. at 2799.

Therefore, if the State concedes that Officer Kass was factually incorrect (which the State does not so concede) and he was indeed mistaken as to the fact of whether the registration lamp was illuminated, the exclusionary rule is not applicable. It is not applicable because the policy considerations of deterring unlawful police conduct are not served and the applicable case law recognizes that officers, like any other human beings, make mistakes. Indeed, absolutely nothing is served by letting alleged criminals go free because of an officer's good faith mistake of fact.

**III. CONCLUSION**

The Circuit Court's findings of fact were not clearly erroneous.

Assuming arguendo that the officer was mistaken in fact that cannot serve as a basis for suppression of evidence.

Wherefore, the State respectfully requests that this Court affirm the decision of the Iowa County Circuit Court.